

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Emotional Intelligence and Soft Skills: A Case Study on Information Technology Employee Performance

James Tyler Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Behavioral Neurobiology Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Human Potential

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

James Tyler

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Barbara Chappell, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty
Dr. Edoardo Naggiar, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty
Dr. Michelle Ross, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Emotional Intelligence and Soft Skills: A Case Study on Information Technology Employee Performance

by

James Tyler

MS, Walden University, 2022 MS, Life University, 2017

BS, Life University, 2016

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Industrial-Organizational Psychology

Walden University

November 2022

Abstract

Soft skills such as communication, teamwork, problem-solving, and stress management in recent years have been seen as a new trend in organizations. Even though there is research demonstrating the importance of soft skills, there is little research on how information technology (IT) organizations are training and evaluating their employees in soft skills. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to understand how human resources departments in IT organizations are training employees on soft skills and how they are evaluating employees' level of performance. The conceptual framework that was used in this study was Goleman's emotional intelligence model of self-awareness, selfregulation, motivation, empathy, and social skills. Semistructured interviews with four participants were used to gain a deeper understanding of soft skills in IT organizations. Braun and Clarke's six-step thematic analysis revealed three themes. From the themes, four findings were developed: the importance of soft skills, soft skills increase job performance, soft skills include must include emotional intelligence, and soft skills evaluation. The participants provided their experience on how they trained and evaluated employees in soft skills, which in turn increased job performance. This study may effect positive social change by allowing employees the opportunity to increase their job performance and contribute to the betterment of their organizations. When employees increase job performance, they also increase their emotional intelligence, which builds motivation, communication, and self-awareness in the organization.

Emotional Intelligence and Soft Skills: A Case Study on Information Technology Employee Performance

by

James Tyler

MS, Walden University, 2022

MS, Life University, 2017

BS, Life University, 2016

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Industrial-Organizational Psychology

Walden University

November 2022

Dedication

I dedicate this dissertation to my wife, Idairis Campo, who was always there to support me when the journey was difficult, and the nights were long. At times, I thought of giving up, but you were always there by my side; thank you! Next, I dedicate this dissertation to my good friend, Alia Aboulhosn, who was always there to answer my questions and give me support when I needed it the most. Alia, thank you so much.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Chappell and Dr. Naggiar for their support and guidance through my dissertation journey. Dr. Chappell, you were always an email away and always had the words to keep me motivated. Dr Naggiar, thank you for your support and friendship throughout my dissertation process.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Problem Statement	3
Purpose Statement	5
Research Questions	6
Theoretical Framework	6
Nature of the Study	7
Definitions of Terms	7
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Significance of the Study	9
Summary	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	11
Introduction	11
Literature Search Strategy	11
Emotional Intelligence Theory	12
Self-Awareness	15
Self-Regulation	16
Motivation	18

Empathy	19
Social Skills	20
Soft Skills	22
Measurement	22
Diversity	23
Communication	24
Job Success	25
Employee Performance	26
Human Resources	26
Summary	28
Chapter 3: Research Method	30
Introduction	30
Research Design and Rationale	31
Research Questions	31
Case Study	32
Role of Researcher	33
Methodology	34
Population	34
Sampling Strategy	34
Sample Size	34
Instrumentation	35
Procedures for Recruitment and Data Collection	36

Data Analysis Plan	37
Stage 1: Reviewing the Data Collected	37
Stage 2: Generating Codes	
Stage 3: Themes	38
Stage 4: Reviewing Themes	38
Stage 5: Naming Themes	38
Stage 6: Creating the Report	38
Issues of Trustworthiness	39
Credibility (Internal Validity)	39
Transferability (External Validity)	39
Dependability	40
Confirmability	40
Ethical Procedures	40
Summary	41
Chapter 4: Results	42
Setting	42
Demographics	43
Data Collection	43
Data Analysis	44
Phase 1: Reviewing the Data	45
Phase 2: Generating Codes	46
Phase 3: Themes	47

Phase 4: Reviewing Themes	50
Phase 5: Naming Themes	50
Phase 6: Creating the Report	50
Evidence of Trustworthiness	51
Credibility	51
Transferability	52
Dependability	52
Confirmability	52
Study Results	53
Theme 1: Soft Skills Programs Make a Difference	53
Theme 2: Soft Skills Increase Performance	57
Theme 3: Soft Skills Must Include Emotional Intelligence	59
Summary	62
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusion, and Recommendations	63
Summary of the Findings	63
Finding 1: The Importance of Soft Skills	64
Finding 2: Soft Skills Increase Job Performance	64
Finding 3: Soft Skills and Emotional Intelligence	65
Finding 4: Soft Skills Evaluation	66
Limitations	66
Recommendations	67
Implications	68

Conclusion	.69
Appendix A: Interview Guide	.85
Appendix B: Interview Questions	.87
Appendix C: Member Checking Protocol	.88

List of Tables

Table 1. Participants	43
Table 2. Six-Phase Thematic Analysis	45
Table 3. Codes for Each Participant	47
Table 4. General Themes for Each Participant	49
Table 5. Final Themes	49

List of Figures

		FD1 6 3		40	
Figure	L. Potential	Themes for	Each Participant	48	,
8					

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Information technology (IT) organizations play a large role in society and other organizations through creating social relationships and meeting customer needs (Faik et al., 2020). In the past, IT organizations recruited based on hard skills (job-related knowledge and abilities), relying on human resources (HR) departments to train employees to meet organizational needs. According to Showry and Manasa (2016), despite these efforts, leaders within IT organizations are struggling to create a compatible and flourishing workforce by hiring and training employees using hard skills alone. In a recent survey, respondents representing 75% of participating organizations indicated that hard skills alone cannot help employees become successful in the workplace (Chamorro-Premuzic, 2020). Further, 68% of HR departments reported that IT organizations are struggling to recruit employees with appropriate soft skills, those personal traits that help an employee thrive in the workplace (Society for Human Resource Management [SHRM], 2016, 2019). According to Stewart et al. (2020), reinforcing soft skills is the only way to incorporate integrity and applied skills and competencies in employees, which, in return, creates employee growth.

Lack of soft skills in employees is a growing concern for HR departments because these personal skills create teamwork, communication, and the ability to solve problems in the workplace (Szekely, 2017). Increasingly in IT organizations, HR staff are emphasizing the development of soft skills (Stewart et al., 2020). To determine the significance of soft skills effectively, more research needs to be conducted to gauge how HR departments in IT organizations are training their employees on soft skills and how

they are evaluating their level of performance (Rao, 2018; West Monroe Partners, 2018). In this study, I explored how HR departments implement soft skill training programs in IT companies and how they increase employee performance.

Background

Hard skills are always the primary skill set when hiring employees and measuring employee performance. However, Cimatti (2016) stated that although soft skills are highly desired among other organizations, many IT organizations do not recruit for these traits. Soft skills are not directly associated with the normal competencies connected to tasks and may be harder to measure. Though they can help a potential employee do well in job interviews, soft skills are easily overlooked, and many HR professionals do not deliberately interview for such abilities, creating a soft skills gap in IT organizations.

Even though both hard skills and soft skills are needed throughout IT organizations, according to Szilárd et al. (2018), soft skills are specifically linked to communication and teamwork crucial to IT organizations that work directly with customer service, sales, problem solving, and risk management.

While there is research on how HR personnel are responsible for hiring, training, and ensuring that employees are meeting the organization's hard skills needs, little research exists as to how HR departments are hiring and training employees in soft skills (Hendon et al., 2017; Tripathy, 2018). There is some indication that HR departments need help identifying and training employees in those soft skills that can increase employee performance (Karim et al., 2019).

Researchers have found that soft skills create positive impressions, decrease stress, and create positive relationships (Rao, 2018). Dean et al. (2019) also found that soft skills increase communication and problem-solving capabilities, which can increase employee performance. According to Szilard et al. (2018), soft skills are needed more than ever before, and more research is needed to fully understand the link between soft skills and increased performance.

Even though research has indicated the importance of soft skills, little research has addressed whether soft skills can increase employee performance in IT organizations. The aim of this research was to understand whether soft skills can increase employee performance and the findings that leaders within IT organizations may use in designing and implementing a soft skills program.

Problem Statement

IT organizations operate through strategic training in hard skills such as analytics, technical skills, and computer technology, which are acquired through education and can be measured to demonstrate performance and productivity (Baclar, 2014; Szekely et al., 2017; Cortada, 2019). Even though hard skills are essential for success, economic globalization and the emergence of a more diverse workforce have created a real need for soft skills (Lazarus, 2013). Due to advanced technology, tasks requiring hard skills are declining, increasing the need to develop soft skills to succeed in the workplace (Majid et al., 2019). Soft skills such as problem solving, teamwork, and communication are now considered essential components to succeed in an IT profession (Szekely et al., 2017).

Despite this growing need, IT organizations continue to face shortages of IT employees who have well-developed soft skills (West Monroe Partners, 2018). West Monroe Partners, a national consulting technology firm, conducted a national survey with over 600 HR professionals/professional recruiters to understand the shortage of soft skills in IT professionals and its impact on organizations. One of the significant findings was that although HR departments emphasize soft skills during the hiring process, they do not cultivate their employees' soft skills once they are hired, leading to problems down the line.

A major one of these problems is the lack of collaboration and communication between hired technologists and other stakeholders (e.g., businesspeople and customers), interactions that are shown to increase the overall success of organizations. Additionally, IT employees' lack of soft skills reduces their likelihood of becoming leaders and team players (West Monroe Partners, 2018). Another critical finding in the national survey was that 67% of HR leaders withheld a job offer from a technologically qualified individual due to their lack of soft skills.

Researchers such as Meek (2018) and Rao (2018) have stated that the unmet need for soft skills in IT organizations is due to changes such as retiring employees, more diverse workgroups, and recent IT graduates without soft skills education (Meek, 2018; Rao, 2018). This is exacerbated by the fact that most IT organizations lack soft skill training programs, which might increase employee performance if implemented (Robles, 2012; Lazarus, 2013).

Soft skills may be acquired through employee training programs, and such training holds the key to increased performance and success in organizations (Robles, 2012; Weber et al., 2020). The question then becomes how to develop a training program suitable for the IT environment, and for this, more research is needed (Sriruecha & Buajan, 2017).

Patacsil and Tablatin (2017) suggested that IT organizations lack soft skills training programs due to a lack of understanding of the tools and methods used to teach soft skills and how to evaluate their success. Rao (2018) stated that some individuals still take the discipline of soft skills lightly due to the lack of research in this area. Hendon et al. (2017) also pointed to the dearth of research on soft skills used by IT professionals.

HR departments are responsible for training new employees and for the overall success of soft skills programs within an organization (Cimatti & Barbara, 2016; Deery & Jago, 2015). To measure the significance of soft skills effectively, more research needs to be conducted to understand how HR departments in IT organizations are training their employees on soft skills and how they are evaluating their level of performance (West Monroe Partners, 2018; Rao, 2018).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to understand how HR departments in IT organizations are training their employees on soft skills, and how they are evaluating their level of performance. The findings of this research may benefit IT organizations in designing and implementing soft skills programs that can increase employees' performance. The findings may also bring awareness on which soft skills

such as communication and problem-solving skills are needed to increase employee performance.

Research Questions

RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills?

RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?

Theoretical Framework

The conceptual framework that was used in this study was Goleman's emotional intelligence model (Goleman, 1995). Daniel Goleman introduced a theory of emotional intelligence that involved five levels: self-awareness, self-regulation, motivation, empathy, and social skills (Goleman, 1995). Level 1, self-awareness, measures how employees use interpersonal skills to gain self-knowledge. Level 2, self-regulation, measures how well an employee can control and harness their emotions in the workplace. Level 3, motivation, measures how someone can do a task without receiving an incentive in return. Level 4, empathy, measures whether an employee is sensitive to the emotional feedback of colleagues. Finally, Level 5, social skills, measures the ability to create good working relationships and function well in teams.

Goleman (1995) was the first person to apply the rubric of emotional intelligence to job performance. Since that time, organizations routinely have been utilizing emotional intelligence for employee development. Goleman argued that IQ tests could not adequately determine individuals' intelligence, even though such tests were being used by many organizations and institutions for job placement. Instead, Goleman demonstrated

that emotional intelligence creates abilities in the form of soft skills that increase the performance and productivity needed to make an employee more competitive in an organization. Soft skills, according to Goleman (1995), are vital components of emotional intelligence that, when aligned with cognitive skills, will create a competitive employee. The framework of Goleman's emotional intelligence has been used by many scholars to demonstrate a direct relationship to soft skills.

Nature of the Study

For this qualitative case study, I collected data by using open-ended, semistructured interviews with employees working in the HR department in an IT organization in Southwest Florida that implemented a soft skills training program (Stake, 2000). The aim of this qualitative case study was to explore soft skills programs that may increase an employee's performance. (Bexter & Jack, 2008). Using a qualitative case study allowed me to investigate a phenomenon through the experience of the participants.

Definitions of Terms

Emotional intelligence: The ability to identify and manage one's feelings (Dean, 2020). Emotional intelligence was first applied to the analysis of a workplace environment by Goleman (1998) as "the ability to identify, assess and control one's own emotions, the emotion of others and that of groups" (p.18.

Soft skills: Skills that are learned through observation, personal experiences, and interactions and are considered nontechnical (Siddiky, 2020).

Hard skills: Skills specific to a job that are learned through education and training programs and are considered technical skills.

Employee performance: How an employee completes a specific task or job (Islami et al., 2018). In soft skills literature, employee performance has been used to determine the effectiveness of hard skill and soft skill training.

Training programs: Any training that increases a person's knowledge (Charoensap-Kelly et al., 2016). For this study, programs were used to promote soft skill knowledge and capabilities.

Assumptions

It was assumed that the HR participants would be truthful and share valuable information about their experiences training employees in soft skills. It was also assumed that HR participants would be good representatives of how soft skills prepare employees for success without demonstrating biases (Howson, 2019). Finally, it was assumed that limiting the study to one organization would allow for in-depth inquiry that would yield information not obtainable in a more cursory examination of multiple organizations.

Limitations

In that this study focused on only one organization, its results may not be broadly applicable. Likewise, this study was qualitative in design, and the sampling size was relatively small, with four HR employees. For this study, I gathered data from one section of HR versus the entire department, which may have limited the data being collected. This was done primarily to focus on the training section of HR. Furthermore, this study might have been limited if the HR participants themselves were not trained in soft skills, which might have affected how training programs were used to increase performance in employees.

Significance of the Study

This qualitative research may contribute to a deeper understanding of soft skills training programs in IT organizations and how to evaluate how soft skills to increase performance in employees (Dries, 2013; Cimatti, 2016). Research has shown the importance of soft skills and how employees may benefit from soft skills training (Ibrahim et al., 2017). The findings of this study may encourage IT organizations to implement soft skills programs that may increase job performance and ensure that their organizations remain competitive (Dubey & Gunasekaran, 2015).

This study may also benefit employees who are seeking a promotion in an organization by improving performance in nontechnical areas such as leadership.

Ultimately, this research could create positive social change by improving employees' soft skills, which are essential to succeed in today's organizations (Patacsil & Lourrine, 2017; Rosli et al., 2017).

Summary

IT organizations represent an economic sector that generates over \$3.7 trillion per year, according to Wilkin et al. (2016). As of January 2020, IT organizations employed and trained 3 million people to understand the impact of soft skills; how HR departments are training and preparing employees in those capabilities could point to new ways of increasing employee performance (Deshpande & Munshi, 2020).

Lazarus (2013) mentioned that hard skills alone are becoming insufficient due to advanced technology and changing workforces increasing the need to develop soft skills, which have become the key to success in the workplace (Majid et al., 2019). Despite the

growing need for soft skills, IT organizations continue to face shortages of IT employees with these abilities (West Monroe Partners, 2018). This study was designed to expand the understanding of how HR personnel in IT organizations are training and preparing employees in soft skills to increase performance. The findings of this study may provide information to IT organizations and stakeholders that leads to positive social change.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

An overall lack of soft skills and attributes associated with personality is considered the leading cause of skill gaps in IT organizations, affecting both HR departments and employees (Stewart et al., 2020). Soft skills in IT organizations, according to Deshpande and Munhshi (2020), are considered the most sought after and are critical for professional development. The HR department's strategic role in any organization is to practice high involvement with management to ensure that employees are meeting organizational goals (Lawler & Boudreau, 2018). Even though HR departments are highly involved in training employees, research is scarce on how or even if those departments are training employees in soft skills that may increase job performance (Lawler & Boudreau, 2018).

HR departments are responsible for training new employees and the overall success of soft skills programs within an organization (Cimatti & Barbara, 2016; Deery & Jago, 2015). To determine the significance of soft skills effectively, more research needs to be conducted as to how HR departments in IT organizations are training their employees on soft skills and how they are evaluating their level of performance (West Monroe Partners, 2018; Rao, 2018).

Literature Search Strategy

To investigate soft skills in IT organizations, a critical review of the literature was conducted using the following databases: PsycARTICLES, PsycBOOKS, Psychology Databases Combined Search, PsycINFO, and Thoreau database. Also included in this

study were books and government publications obtained from Walden University Library through Google Chrome. All articles used in this study were peer reviewed and published within the past 5 years. Keywords included *soft skills*, *talent gap*, *employee performance*, *teamwork skills*, *organizational skills*, *talent mismatch*, *interpersonal skills*, *emotional intelligence*, *hard skills*, *organizational performance*, and *information technology*.

Because there was very little literature on soft skills in IT organizations, the search was broadened to include Google Scholar and SAGE to access articles published between 2015 and 2020, using the following Google Scholar keywords: *soft skills*, *organizational soft skills*, *Kayek's social cognitive theory*, and *IT soft skills*.

Emotional Intelligence Theory

Emotional intelligence theory can be traced back to Peter Salovey, a Yale

University professor, and John D. Mayer, a postdoctoral researcher. In 1990, they

introduced the theory of emotional intelligence, which involves the ability to understand
and process one's own emotions and those of others. An emotionally intelligent person
can use feelings to guide thoughts and behaviors.

Daniel Goleman, a clinical psychologist, built upon the work of Salovey and Mayer, specifically applying it to a workplace environment (Dewey, 2020). Goleman developed a model based on research suggesting that most individuals make critical decisions based on emotions instead of reason. Goleman realized that organizational leaders, though they thought that they were basing decisions on educational expertise, were using a balance of both expertise and emotional intelligence. In 1995, Goleman published *Emotional Intelligence: Why It Can Matter More Than IQ*, arguing that a

person could better understand themselves by accepting emotions instead of discarding them, and thereby live a more meaningful and successful life (Goleman, 1995).

Goleman's model is based on five levels: self-awareness, self-regulation, motivation, empathy, and social skills. Level 1, self-awareness, involves the ability to see and understand one's moods and emotions and recognize their impact on others. Level 2, self-regulation, involves the ability to control or rechannel disruptive moods or emotions. Level 3, motivation, involves the ability to work towards goals and improvement without incentive. Level 4, empathy, involves the ability to understand other people's emotions. Finally, Level 5, social skills, involves the ability to create positive workplace relationships and build networks (Goleman, 1995).

Goleman's emotional intelligence theory was later used by organizations to identify non-technical abilities (soft skills) that promote emotional and intellectual growth through personal experiences (Salovey et al., 2003). Self-awareness is associated with confidence, realistic self-assessment, and an easy sense of humor. Self-regulation is connected to trustworthiness, integrity, and the ability to cope well with change. Empathy is linked to building and retaining talent, cultural sensitivity, and superior service to clients and customers. Social skills lead to persuasiveness, effective leadership, and a talent for building and heading teams.

Emotions are considered to be reactions to outside stimuli such as feelings, reasoning, communication, and adaptiveness. Recognizing emotions is considered by researchers as key to understanding why a person is thriving or struggling in the workplace (Deshpande & Munshi, 2020). To date, emotional intelligence theory is the

only construct being used to analyze emotions, empathy, communication, integrity, and values (Deshpande & Munshi, 2020).

Despite the rising interest in emotional intelligence, there is no generally accepted rubric of soft skills in the workplace, because there are so many different areas associated with emotions (Salovey et al., 2003; Rao, 2018; Dewey, 2020). According to Connolly and Reinicke (2017), appropriate behaviors are difficult to teach, as HR departments and teachers often do not understand emotional intelligence or how to measure soft skill performance. Connolly and Reincke's research concluded that soft skills in IT organizations are lacking due to the complexity of any organization's structure. Each hierarchical level of an organization requires a different set of soft skills, and to understand soft skills, HR personnel must understand emotional intelligence. To increase employee success, HR personnel need to fully understand soft skills and how to apply soft skills to everyday situations (Connolly & Reincke, 2017).

This research conducted by Connolly & Reinicke (2017) was limited because they looked only at team building, observing 24 students twice a week for 75 minutes in an active learning environment of a classroom over 10 weeks. The class was taught by an instructor who specialized in teaching soft skills, which served as the basis for the research. The idea of the research was to gauge basic interactions rather than productive work. The outcome revealed that perceived emotions were the primary form of information used by each person in the classroom based on meet-and-greet scenarios. Feedback from the participants suggested that each approached and introduced themselves differently. Thus, they retrieved different emotions from each person.

Connolly and Reinicke's research on soft skills in team development demonstrated that each individual perceives emotional intelligence differently, which suggests that soft skills can be difficult to observe and measure.

Research by Connolly and Reincke correlates with Goleman's emotional intelligence theory, which indicates that soft skills can be taught more efficiently through interactions with another person, event, or personal experiences than through abstract education (Goleman, 1987).

Self-Awareness

Self-awareness derives from emotional intelligence, according to Feize (2020) and Goleman (1987), manifesting as constant consciousness, behaviors, and thoughts that a person builds over time. Self-awareness is not innate but is a skill that develops and improves as time goes by, shaped by experiences from the past and present. Likewise, experiences from the past and present influence future behaviors, creating predictability that also increases self-awareness (Feize, 2020).

According to Feize (2020), an individual with high self-awareness behaves more professionally. Goleman (1987) explained that self-awareness is the process by which a person gains self-knowledge through their reaction to experiences outside of their control. Upon reflection, the individual can become more aware of their values and priorities, with this awareness acting as a buffer to rash responses to unexpected events, allowing the individual to become more successful. One key factor, according to Feize, is that self-awareness grows from the reaction of a person's traits and attitudes to stimuli in a specific environment.

Feize (2020) conducted qualitative research to better understand what an individual's perceived experiences might be and how they correlate to reality, which in turn may influence the depth of that individual's self-awareness. This qualitative study used 40 universities randomly selected in different areas of the United States. The research included 140 participants, consisting of 35 females and 105 males, the median age being 22. Feize found that each person had a unique experience, growing from an innate curiosity but affected by internal feelings such as transformation and invulnerability. Most participants reported that they consciously answered interview questions by drawing on past experiences, demonstrating self-awareness. Other participants struggled to answer specific questions because of a lack of previous experience. Many of the participants explained that they had grown up in environments where evaluating their behaviors was encouraged. Others explained that they had never been taught to evaluate their behaviors.

In the end, participants who were not taught self-awareness demonstrated disappointment, fear, and hopelessness in response to interview questions. Participants who were taught self-awareness demonstrated adaptability, happiness, and increased knowledge. Feize's research indicated that individuals who were taught the practice of self-awareness were more successful in adapting to new situations and increasing their knowledge, whereas individuals who were not taught self-awareness struggled.

Self-Regulation

Self-regulation is a psychological concept that measures an individual's behavior, emotions, attention to goals, and adjustment to social interactions (Backer et al., 2019).

According to Backer et al. (2019), self-regulation is the ability to control thoughts and behaviors associated with emotions. Goleman (1987) believed that self-regulation was key to an individual using emotional intelligence constructively. If individual possessed self-regulation, that individual was more likely to be able to set or reach goals, which in return created success.

Tseng et al. (2019) conducted qualitative research on self-regulation and soft skills to determine whether self-regulation can be taught and improved over time. The research used 162 participants, in four groups, to determine how the participants would evince increased or decreased motivation, social skills, and adaptability depending on changing stimuli. The average age among the participants was 24 years, and all participants had obtained an undergraduate degree. The results indicated that participants who had more self-awareness were able to practice greater self-regulation when asked how they would handle a difficult scenario in business. By contrast, other participants who did not practice or learn self-awareness were less able to exercise self-regulation and struggled to answer questions about how they would react in a difficult scenario. The outcome demonstrated that self-regulation does increase a person's ability to overcome and achieve goals through self-awareness.

Thus, Tseng et al. (2019) found that individuals who practiced self-regulation demonstrated more motivation and the ability to strive more to reach a specific goal. Self-regulated learners could better handle the negative stimuli that can decrease a person's ability to achieve. Goleman's emotional intelligence theory suggests that self-regulation builds on self-awareness, creating abilities that allow an individual to feel successful,

which in return can increase performance. However, more research is needed to fully understand specific aspects of self-regulation, such as gender roles.

Motivation

Intrinsic motivation has been described by Van and Ying (2019) and Goleman (1987) as a desire to perform without an intention to gain an incentive. In other words, a person who has intrinsic motivation seeks personal gain in the form of happiness or selfinterest. Motivation is also believed to have a direct effect on job performance as employees can self-motivate to have a better outcome, according to Branscum et al. (2016). Many organizations use employee motivation, which is created by expectations that an organization will offer something in return for good job performance. Goleman (1987) contended that intrinsic motivation is key to emotional intelligence and may improve job performance. Intrinsic motivation, according to Goleman (1987), is a large part of emotional intelligence because employees with intrinsic motivation are not looking to gain an incentive but are seeking self-pleasure such as personal goals and passion. Research by Mayer and Salovery (1997) and Goleman (1987) supported that emotional intelligence in the form of intrinsic motivation could serve as the most important among employees, as motivation is the solution to positive attitudes and positive emotions and can suppress negative emotions.

Qualitative research was conducted by Schirf and Serapiglia's (2017) to examine emotional intelligence and work motivation to determine whether motivation can improve work performance. The research was conducted over 6 months and used a small group of participants who worked in the same position in an IT organization. Schirf and

Serapiglia's (2017) research demonstrated that employees who obtain emotional intelligence in the form of intrinsic motivation have higher personal values, work ethics, and the ability to adapt to high-pressure situations. Research also indicates that employees who lack motivation demonstrate poor job performance, whereas employees who are motivated to work tend to show better job performance (Schirf & Serapiglia, 2017). Even though the results from Schirf and Serapiglia's research demonstrated some promising results, more research is needed to fully understand emotional intelligence and work motivation.

Empathy

Empathy is the ability to feel what another person is feeling (Ratka, 2018). Unlike self-awareness and self-regulation, empathy is considered to be an innate human attribute that occurs naturally. Ratka (2018) explained that empathy is hardwired in an individual's personality or deeper cognitive area, where a person can feel bad for another individual. However, Ratka also argued that empathy can be deliberately increased by developing better self-awareness and self-regulation. Because empathy is an emotional response, it can be honed by practicing better listening skills, trying to understand situations before taking action, and create positive social change. Empathy has also been found to be genetic and higher in women, and it can vary depending on the culture of the individual.

Research by Ratka (2018) addressed how empathy is expressed in soft skills to determine if it can be taught as a cognitive skill to increase self-awareness. Participants were selected from multiple businesses from different locations in the United States.

Each participant answered specific questions before undergoing empathy training.

Ratka's results indicated that all of the participants' scores increased by 40% after empathy training such as video recordings of scenarios, stories, and role-playing. The greatest growth was achieved in empathy training through role-playing. Even though research has indicated how an individual may increase empathy, more research is needed to better understand how empathy correlates with society and other soft skills.

Social Skills

Social skills serve as Level 4 of Goleman's emotional intelligence theory. This is the largest and most difficult area of soft skills, as social skills can be quite diverse (Hallam, 2015). Social skills are crucial to the success of a business, as effective employees need to build relationships with their manager, leaders, and other employees (Hallam, 2015). Social skills are a natural expression of empathy, self-awareness, and self-regulation.

If an employee lacks the skills to forge a good relationship with the team leader, there is a high chance of conflict, which can result in decreased progress. According to Hallam (2015), relationships should be based on fairness, trust, and justice. Employees determine which social skills to use based on their expectations of others and the outside stimuli of the workplace. If these expectations are fulfilled with trust, a successful relationship is created (Hallam, 2015; Goleman, 1987).

The research was conducted on social skills to determine if interpersonal relationships in IT organizations are necessary for creating trust and teamwork among employees. Participants were selected at random and consisted of 20 employees, who were randomly grouped into teams of four to five members. Set up like a game, the

research was intended to determine the impact of relationship status on team activities such as marketing, sales, and planning (Hwang et al. 2018).

In the first test, strangers gathered into groups were asked to accomplish work tasks typical of a normal business day within a certain time frame, the question is whether they needed to establish relationships before being able to collaborate well. The games were played in three rounds over 20 days, becoming more complex over time. All the participants ended up improving their teambuilding skills and creating trust without prior relationship status. Most participants stated that they did not have time to build a relationship but instead chose to utilize social skills that assumed trust (Hwang et al. 2018).

The second test revealed that the participants failed in their tasks when not timed. The participants stated that they chose not to rely on trust-based social skills and, instead, tried to build relationships because they had time. The outcome of Hwang's research correlates with Emotional Intelligence Theory as participants, when pushed, used social skills that derived from self-awareness, self-regulation, and empathy to make judgments as to whether or not they would trust strangers to collaborate on shared work.

Even though research indicated that relationships are built on self-awareness and self-regulation, more research needs to be conducted to fully understand the connection between social skills and team building. Relationships, according to Hwang (2018), are very complex and many areas lack research such as the use of social skills with other soft skills and the role of relationships in more complex issues in the workplace.

Soft Skills

Measurement

Can soft skills effectively change the behavior and performance of employees in IT organizations? Deshpande and Munshi (2020) conducted quantitative research based on previous research by Khokhar and Kush (2009), testing different employees with high soft skills and low soft skills. Regression analysis, Cronbach's alpha, and Wilcoxon signed-rank test were used to measure soft skills cores to determine if performance could be predicted in an organization. The research sample size was 600 and the sampling method was a clustering method. The results revealed that some soft skills can be measured and do, indeed, dictate performance levels with employees.

While data analysis demonstrated that soft skills can increase performance in communication and relationship building, the data did not definitively prove that soft skills can increase overall performance. Traditional training programs from schools and organizations teach employees hard skills but lack soft skills. This has adverse results, such as breakdowns in communication and an increase in stress. Deshpande & Munshi found that soft skill training in the HR department was most beneficial to organizations and that HR should be the primary department to implement soft skills.

However, according to these researchers, more study is needed to fully understand soft skill training needs in IT organizations. The results of Deshpande & Munshi's research concluded that more research is needed to fully understand the role of soft skills in other performance areas such as individual performance, stress management, and

competence. More specifically, more research is needed to understand the correlation between soft skill training programs and performance.

Diversity

The need in today's economy for diversity has never been higher, according to Karim, Zaki, & Mubeen (2019). They defined workforce diversity as a group of individuals who originate from different cultural backgrounds and work together to create multiculturalism. Qualitative research conducted in 12 countries investigated whether there is a link between cultural diversity and productivity among employees in IT organizations. According to Karim, Zaki, & Mubeen, when an employee is comfortable that their background and culture are accepted, productivity increases. Research also indicated that HR is the area in which organizational culture diversity is developed and implemented throughout the organization.

To accomplish such workforce diversity and create multiculturalism in organizations, Karim, Zaki, & Mubeen, argue that HR departments must be trained in soft skills, such as communication, leadership, and diversity awareness. Soft skills such as communication are divided into two categories: formal and informal communication. Formal communication is the flow of official information through approved channels and routes. Informal communication is everything else, spoken, written, or gestured. Workplace multiculturalism changes the rules of informal communication, which is why it is so essential that HR train employees in soft skills in a diversifying environment (Karim, Zaki, & Mubeen, 2019).

According to Karim, Zaki, & Mubeen, (2019), organizational effectiveness can be achieved through soft skills like communication organized through HR training.

Limitations of this research suggested that more research is needed to fully understand the consequences of informal communication in IT organizations.

Communication

According to Tripathy (2018), a lack of soft skills, such as easy communication, can cause an increase in stress among employees in organizations, particularly in IT organizations. Qualitative research was conducted to investigate soft skills and stress in IT organizations. The research aimed to answer the question of whether or not improved soft skills could decrease stress among employees. Stress in this research is defined as pressure, though stress can be a good and bad thing depending on the situation. Stress can encourage an employee to increase talent, inspiration, and passion if constructive.

Stress in organizations is created when diverse individuals work together and share different areas of expertise in the form of information and opinions. According to Tripathy, training in soft skills can enable employees to interact with diverse individuals through information and role-playing. Tripathy found that IT organizations without an emphasis on soft skills training can stop growing and develop problems with employee retention. Furthermore, adequate soft skills can be the determinant as to whether an employee grows in the organization or is unsuccessful. Tripathy noted that soft skills training programs have special areas, such as stress management, which can help employees positively handle pressure.

Tripathy concluded that soft skills like self-awareness help an employee identify their strengths and weaknesses, which helps the employee combat stress. These findings are vital to understanding the relationship between good soft skills and diversity in organizations.

Job Success

Rao (2018) conducted qualitative research with Fortune 500 CEOs and with the Stanford Research Institute International to investigate soft skills in organizations and their significance to employees' success. The findings indicated that 75 percent of long-term job success was dependent on soft skills and 25 percent was dependent on technical or hard skills. Data demonstrated that soft skills have proven to be useful in areas such as communication, productivity, stress management, and conflict resolution.

An emphasis on soft skill development in organizations not only helps employees grow in areas such as communication and stress management, but also nurtures leaders in the organizations through training programs such as self-awareness, adaptability, motivation, and conflict resolution. Rao found that employees best acquired soft skills through project-based learning and interaction with individuals trained in soft skills. Soft skills, according to Rao, are expressed in five areas: self-determination, social learning, self-efficacy, cognitive behavior, and self-theory. He noted that more research is needed to fully understand different areas that soft skills can improve through training programs. However, he was convinced that soft skills training programs had the potential to increase performance and conceptual skills.

Employee Performance

Rosli et al. (2017) conducted quantitative survey research on the impact of soft skill abilities on employee performance. The research sought to identify soft skill competencies that might lead to an increase in employee work performance. The researchers looked at 10 organizations and 1,200 soft skills trainees. Among the 1,200 trainees, only 260 participants were asked to answer the following questions: Does training effectiveness affect soft skills? Do soft skills have a direct influence on employee work performance? The study revealed that the relationship between trainer effectiveness and soft skills was significant, at 1.96, and soft skills acquisition significantly influenced employee performance by 0.79. The findings also demonstrated that soft skills have a direct effect on problem-solving skills.

However, Rosli, Ali, & Kazeem explained that increased employee performance is possible if the organization is set up to train employees. More research is needed to understand which soft skills have a greater impact on employee performance and to identify the optimal structure for effective training. Another limitation of this study is that it used a self-rated employee performance scale, which has many liabilities, such as exaggeration.

Human Resources

Human resources are considered the backbone of any organization that offers employee training programs (Battaglio, 2020; Ibrahim & Bakare, 2017). Over the years, HR departments have evolved from training employees in hard skills to soft skills which, in turn, improves employee behavior through self-motivation and self-awareness

(Battaglio, 2020). A case study by Ibrahim & Bakare (2017), found that soft skill improvement is now the primary objective for HR departments, but many HR employees lack appropriate training, making effective training of employees very difficult.

The independent variable used in Ibrahim & Bakare's case study was soft skill ability and the dependent variable was work performance. Soft skills were determined through the use of a five-point Likert scale questionnaire, which was used to test an employee's competency levels. The research aimed to answer the following questions: Do soft skills influence job performance? Do soft skill training methodologies influence employee performance (Ibrahim & Bakare, 2017)? Impact on work performance was evaluated by training 260 employees in different areas of soft skills over a two-month training session provided by a professional trainer in soft skills.

There was an increase in soft skill abilities, such as being able to communicate their ideas more effectively, with the mean score moving from 3.02 to 3.87. The highest mean score was 3.87, which indicated that employees were more comfortable expressing their concerns in an organization without fear of retaliation.

Employee performance was also evaluated and showed an increase from 0.178 to 0.353. This increase was measured using multiple regression analysis to determine if soft skills and training methodology increased job performance. There was also a positive relationship between soft skills training and improved communication, problem-solving, and teamwork skills.

Researchers stressed that, while the data showed that an organization could not determine if a specific employee's work performance would increase with soft skill

training, the organization as a whole should experience an increase in work performance if it invested in soft skill training. Soft skills did have a causal relationship with training scenarios and training methodology in IT organizations, according to Ibrahim & Bakare, which indicates that with proper training scenarios employees might be able to increase their work performance. However, the case study also revealed that HR departments were often unclear as to which soft skills needed to be improved in an organization, and, therefore, had trouble choosing training methodologies

Even though research by Ibrahim & Bakare (2017) concluded that it is very possible to increase employee work performance through soft skills more research is needed to fully understand if HR can efficiently train employees in soft skills.

Summary

The lack of soft skills in IT organizations continues to be a problem (West Monroe Partners, 2018; Rao, 2018). Although IT organizations are realizing the value of focusing on soft skills along with hard skills, many employees lack soft skill training, and IT organizations often lack soft skill training programs (Robles, 2012; Lazarus, 2013). Despite the growing need for soft skills, more research is needed to fully understand which soft skills and their precise relationship to improved job performance (Ibrahim & Bakare, 2017).

Previous research demonstrated how soft skills increased self-awareness, communication, teamwork, and self-regulation based on emotional intelligence (Backer et al., 2019). Ibrahim & Bakare (2017) highlighted that soft skills are crucial to IT organizations, but the nature of the link between soft skills and performance is not fully

understood. Further research can provide a better understanding of how HR personnel are training employees in different areas of soft skills, which may increase employee performance in IT organizations (Rosli, et al., 2017). Understanding how HR departments implement soft skills and how soft skills may prepare employees for success may well be the key to increasing overall performance in IT organizations (Deshpande & Munshi, 2020).

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

Traditionally, leaders of IT organizations have focused on hard skills when hiring and training employees to meet organizational needs. According to Showry and Manasa (2016), leaders of IT organizations now find themselves struggling to hire and retain employees in an ever-changing workplace using hard skills criteria alone. Researchers have recently begun studying soft skills in IT organizations, as employees who demonstrate expertise in communication, self-awareness, and social skills seem to thrive compared to those who do not have these skills (Idrus & Abdullah, 2018). IT organization leaders recognize that they face shortages of both employees trained in soft skills and HR personnel who can train and assess soft skills that might increase job performance, according to Lyons and Bandura (2020).

More research is needed to better develop strategies to hire employees adept in soft skills, train those who are not, and assess both the success of such training and the impact of soft skills on job performance (Showry & Manasa, 2016; West Monroe Partners, 2018; Lyons & Bandura, 2020). New research could benefit IT organizations and stakeholders by leading to the development of soft skill training programs implemented through HR departments, which could lead to workplace success (Horstmeyer, 2020). The purpose of this qualitative case study was to understand how HR personnel in IT organizations are training their employees in soft skills and how they are evaluating their level of performance.

Research Design and Rationale

Research Questions

RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills?

RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?

The purpose of this study was to better understand how HR personnel in an IT organization are providing soft skill training to their employees, and how they are evaluating their level of performance. To accomplish this, a qualitative case study was used, which allowed me to gain a deeper understanding of HR department practices in an IT organization (Stake, 2005). Understanding how HR personnel are training their employees and evaluating their performance can benefit not only an IT organization, but also those who hold a stake in overall organizational success (Grant & Keevy, 2019).

A qualitative case study was the most appropriate approach, as this research methodology allowed me to examine the emic, or inside, the phenomenon of interest of the HR department (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). By looking at the system of meanings operative within the particular cultural context of an IT organization, a researcher can observe the reality that people experience and how people add meaning to their experiences (Taylor et al., 2016; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Qualitative research affords a researcher the advantage of not only documenting what employees do, but also asking what significance they attach to what they are doing, yielding richer data (Taylor et al., 2016).

Various techniques can be used in qualitative research, according to Merriam (2016), such as narrative, phenomenology, grounded theory, ethnography, and case study. For this research, an instrumental case study was selected because it allowed me to gather data descriptively through an inductive investigation or bounded system (Merriam, 2016). According to Cresswell and Poth (2018), a researcher conducting an instrumental case study focuses on an issue or concern and then selects one bounded system to demonstrate the issue. In other words, by studying one IT organization, a researcher can extrapolate to the larger issue of soft skill implementation in the IT work environment.

Case Study

A researcher conducting a qualitative case study aims to understand participants and make sense of a phenomenon inductively, going from the specific to the general (Creswell, 1996; Merriam, 2019). According to Woodside (2010), a case study "is an empirical inquiry that investigates a phenomenon within real-life context but more so when the boundaries between phenomenon and context are not clear" (p. 2). According to Yin (2003), a case study should be used when the researcher needs to answer "how" and "why" questions (p. 545). A case study is also best used for studying small groups and organizations when the goal is to investigate a real-life, contemporary, bounded system by way of interviews, observations, and documents (Stake, 2005; Creswell & Poth, 2018). Applying a case study as the methodology helps in explaining how HR personnel in an IT organization are implementing soft skills training and how soft skills are being evaluated (Showry & Manasa, 2016; West Monroe Partners, 2018; Lyons & Bandura, 2020).

Role of Researcher

For this qualitative case study, my role as the researcher was that of an observer, which allowed me to gather rich data in the participants' natural environment and reveal insight into data otherwise inaccessible (Stake, 2014; Morgan, 2017). The primary purpose of a researcher serving as both observer and participant is to gain a deeper understanding of events as they are happening, which should yield insight into a participant's structures, processes, and behavior (Stake, 2014). Researchers who apply a case study often use the observer/participant model, according to Morgan et al. (2017), which is considered the most ethical method to gather data.

According to Creswell and Poth (2018), managing biases is vital to qualitative research and can be accomplished by using reflexivity, a technique that reveals any values, experiences, or biases that may be brought to a study. I managed any biases by writing down thoughts, feelings, or assumptions that occurred throughout the study (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

I also ensured against bias by using no inducements and creating no situations that could unduly influence or disproportionately attract participants to engage in the study (Luke et al., 2018). Afkinich and Blachman-Demner (2020) stated that the primary purpose of using incentives is to attract participants, increase retention, or encourage participants to partake in research that they might not otherwise be interested in. To limit potential biases, I did not give an incentive to any participant in this study.

Methodology

Population

The population selected for this research was relatively small, as I aimed to have between three and five participants. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), using a small sample size is ideal when conducting a case study, as it allows the researcher to gather richer data. Participants were selected who were 18 years or older and who had more than 3 years of experience working in the field of HR training and assessment. Participants were not selected based on gender, as that was a variant that was irrelevant to the design of this project.

Sampling Strategy

I used purposeful and criterion sampling (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Purposeful sampling is used in case studies to select participants who have specific knowledge of the phenomenon or subject being studied (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Criterion sampling was used to select participants because HR personnel in an IT organization are considered to be experts in the training and professional development of employees (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Durdella, 2019).

Sample Size

HR departments are often broken into specialty subunits, such as talent management, benefits, HR compliance, workplace safety, development, and training (Lawler & Boundreau, 2018). The population selected for this research was relatively small, as I aimed for between three and five participants. According to Merriam and

Tisdell (2016), using a small sample size is ideal when conducting a case study, as it allows the researcher to gather richer data.

Instrumentation

The primary data collection instrument for this study was a semistructured interview (Roberts, 2020). I collected data using a semistructured, open-ended interview guide (see Appendix A) with three willing participants in the HR department. Each interview question was developed to gain information about the phenomenon of soft skills and job performance. Castillo-Montoya (2016) and Yin (2018) suggested four important considerations in developing interview questions: (a) interview questions must align with the methodology and purpose of the study, (b) interview questions must align with the research questions, (c) interview questions should reveal the lived experience or phenomenon, and (d) interview questions should evoke in-depth conversation.

Semistructured interviews are considered to be the best approach for qualitative research because this technique allows for more probing and follow-up questions (Tolley et al., 2016). Probing questions, those that encourage a participant to think more deeply about the subject under discussion, and follow-up questions at the end of an interview enable the researcher to gather in-depth data.

With permission from the participants, online interviews were both audiorecorded and video-recorded, to ensure that all details were captured. This research did not rigidly adhere to written or predetermined interview questions. Instead, I tailored questions to fit each specific interview, drawing from a basic framework of inquiry derived from knowledge of prior, similar research projects (Tolley et al., 2016).

Procedures for Recruitment and Data Collection

To ensure that sufficient participants were selected, I submitted a letter of intent via email to a local IT organization's HR department in the immediate area with my contact information. The criteria for participants indicated that they needed to be current HR employees who developed training programs for employees. Participants were also selected based on the location of their IT organization. Selected participants who responded to the letter of intent were given a summary of the purpose of the research and asked to sign an informed consent form agreeing to engage in interviews through Skype, Microsoft Teams, Facetime, or another video platform per the participant's request. Any potential participant who refused to sign an informed consent form was not included in the study, though they were thanked deeply for their time and for considering participating.

The data collection frequency was one interview per participant for the duration of between 1 and 2 hours, including member checking. This provided sufficient time for any follow-up or more probing questions needed to fully understand the participant's experiences. There was also sufficient time to begin with a short recap of the purpose of this study and to answer any questions that the participant might have regarding it.

During the interview, I audio and video recorded the interview, using Zoom. At the end of the interview, I personally thanked the participant once again for participating in the study.

Data Analysis Plan

All data gathered were coded. According to Sage (2014), coding narrows down gathered data into more manageable statements and observations, such as classification events, and is commonly used with qualitative case studies. During the coding of data, I reviewed all audio recordings from the interviews along with handwritten notes from the video portion. Once transcripts were completed, member checking was used to ensure the accuracy of the transcripts. This allowed me to ensure accuracy and identify any themes that arose from the interviews. For this research, Braun and Clarke's (2006) six-step thematic analysis was used. This method applies to a variety of research questions and is flexible in "identifying, analyzing, organizing, describing, and reporting themes" (Braun & Clare, 2012, p. 56). For each participant, the following six-phase thematic analysis was used.

Stage 1: Reviewing the Data Collected

This stage is the entry point and the best way to engage in the data overall while gaining insight (Terry et al., 2017). To do this, I read the transcripts multiple times while taking notes of any interests or common themes that might emerge. Additionally, I paid close attention to meanings and patterns that might emerge (Riger, 2016).

Stage 2: Generating Codes

I began to code the data by applying meaningful labels to specific datasets that were relevant to the research questions or emerged inductively (Terry et al., 2017). I tagged sections of data that were relevant and added meaning and interest to the research.

Once all transcripts were coded, I moved to Stage 3 and began searching for themes.

Stage 3: Themes

Using the research questions as a guide, I began to piece together codes into themes (Terry et al., 2017). By building themes, I was able to see patterns and organize clusters of data by identifying similarities and relationships.

Stage 4: Reviewing Themes

At this point, I was able to determine which themes were relevant or irrelevant to the research. Each theme was carefully examined to determine whether there were coherent patterns and to ensure that the data reflected the research questions (Terry et al., 2017).

Stage 5: Naming Themes

According to Terry et al. (2017), stage 5 should include the pertinence of each theme and refine the themes about details and how the themes tell the story. A researcher should read the themes many times, which is considered ideal for producing credible findings. Likewise, reading the themes many times can help a novice researcher better understand what the themes are about and how they relate to the research questions.

Stage 6: Creating the Report

At this stage, a researcher writes a story based on the data analysis. According to Terry et al. (2017), stage 6 should include "concise, coherent, logical, nonrepetitive, and interesting accounts of the data" (p. 45). I also checked the accuracy of direct quotes in the final report and analyzed the significance of patterns generated by the data, along with the implications of each theme. In the end, I theorized about how the story learned in

this case study shed light on the challenge of teaching and assessing soft skills in an IT work environment.

Issues of Trustworthiness

According to Nowell et al. (2017), There are many tools to use in qualitative research to ensure trustworthiness and minimize bias while yielding meaningful results. Among them are credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

Credibility (Internal Validity)

Credibility, according to Nowell et al. (2017), is the fit between respondents and representation and can be increased by way of member checking, prolonged engagement, observation, and triangulation. Credibility is also determined by checking preliminary findings with raw data. For this study, I used member checking by asking participants to review the transcripts of their interviews for accuracy and to ensure that what they said was what they meant to convey. Member checking provides the opportunity for a researcher to find errors and inaccuracies in the data collected from participants.

Transferability (External Validity)

Transferability is the responsibility of the researcher to provide a thick description of the process, which reports not just a social activity, but also the interpretation of that action by those involved. In other words, a thick description includes the broader context. (Nowell et al., 2017). This can be accomplished by providing a thick description of the background, methods, sample strategy, and results so that the reader can determine if the findings of this study correlate with their conclusion.

Dependability

To demonstrate dependability, the report should include a traceable and in-depth explanation of why a certain method of data collection was used, based on the purpose of the study. The main idea of dependability is to leave an audit trail for readers to better understand the research process (Nowell et al., 2017). I will ensure dependability by explaining clearly how the research design is reflected in the research questions and how that design worked when applied in the interviews.

Confirmability

Confirmability is established when the I can demonstrate clearly how interpretations and conclusions were made based on the data collected (Nowell et al., 2017). I will ensure confirmability by ensuring self-awareness and reflexivity of the research process and researcher role. This can be accomplished by taking in-depth notes and reporting about my presumptions going into the study, the interview process, and my observations and analysis.

Ethical Procedures

It is my top priority to ensure the protection of the human participants in this research. To this end, I will clearly explain the process and purpose of this study before asking participants to sign consent forms, including their roles as participants, their rights to withdraw from the study and confidentiality. I will take the time to answer any questions participants may have (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015). By taking these steps, I create transparency, which, in turn, creates the trust (Nowell et al., 2017).

Confidentiality will be maintained by assigning each participant a numerical tag, such as Participant 1, and will not at any point name the organization where the participants are employed. Each participant will be afforded anonymity and will be informed that all manual data collected such as paper notes and all electronic data such as voice and video recordings will be stored in a locked file cabinet. Additionally, each participant will be informed that the data collected will only be reviewed by the dissertation committee and the researcher. I will destroy all manual, paper, and electronic data five years after the study is completed (Surmiak, 2018).

Summary

The purpose of this qualitative case study will be to better understand how HR personnel in an IT organization are training their employees in soft skills and how they are evaluating their level of performance. A qualitative case study will be used to better understand the phenomenon of the participants within a real-life context. Participant selection will begin by contacting HR and will end with confirmability. This chapter addressed an in-depth overview of research design, methodology, data collection, data analysis plan, and ethical procedures including assurances and participant's rights. Chapter 3 also included the procedures from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) and the interview guide. Chapter 4 will discuss demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and results.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to understand how personnel in HR departments in IT organizations are training their employees on soft skills and how they are evaluating employees' level of performance. According to Dean et al. (2019), soft skills increase communication and problem-solving capabilities, which may increase employee performance. Additionally, according to Jardim et al (2022), soft skills allow employees to manage their attributes such as performance, relationships, and communication skills.

RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills?

RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?

To answer the questions, a qualitative case study was selected because it allowed me to gather data descriptively through an inductive investigation or bounded system (Merriam, 2016). The data were analyzed using Braun and Clarke's (2006) six-step thematic analysis, which allowed me to "identify, analyze, organize, describe, and report themes" (Braun & Clare, 2012, p. 56). Chapter 4 addresses the study setting, demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and results.

Setting

This study took place online using Zoom, which was selected based on the participant's preference. Due to COVID-19 protocols, conducting face-to-face interviews was not possible. All participants and researchers were located in a quiet and secure location during the interviews and were notified that the interviews were recorded.

Demographics

This study was conducted using four participants who were over 18 years of age, were working in the HR department of an IT company, were working in training or program evaluations, and had more than 3 years of experience. The participants listed in Table 1 consisted of four females who were over 18 years old, worked in HR, were involved in employee training and development, and shared similar backgrounds in teaching and training employees in soft skills and emotional intelligence.

Table 1Participants

	Age	Experience	Gender	Position
Participant 1	31	5 years	Female	HR training
Participant 2	36	10 years	Female	HR training
Participant 3	28	6 years	Female	HR training
Participant 4	40	15 years	Female	HR training

Data Collection

Once IRB approval (12-23-21-0749014) was granted, the recruitment process and data collection took approximately 7 months to complete due to scheduling differences and COVID protocols. Participants were recruited by emailing multiple HR departments in IT companies with an attached copy of the sample flyer. I also made phone calls to multiple IT companies to request participants for the research. Once an IT company replied with interest in the study, I emailed the company the letter of cooperation, which addressed the intent of the research and contained more in-depth information on soft

skills and emotional intelligence. As soon as the letter of cooperation was signed, the participants were sent the letter of consent, which contained an explanation of the study's purpose, procedures, nature, risks, and benefits.

Each interview took place over a video Zoom call, which was preferred by the participants, and each interview call was audio and video recorded. Semistructured interview questions (see Appendix B) were used, which, as Roberts (2020) explained, allowed me to better understand the participants' experience of teaching and training employees in soft skills and emotional intelligence. The duration of the interviews was about 1 hour, and the participants were given time for follow-up questions and feedback from the interview questions. Each participant was given a transcript about 3 weeks after the data were collected for accuracy.

Data Analysis

As discussed in Chapter 3, data analysis for the interview and questionnaire was conducted by using Braun and Clarke's (2006) six-step thematic analysis. This method applies to a variety of research questions and is flexible in "identifying, analyzing, organizing, describing, and reporting themes" (Braun & Clare, 2012, p. 56). Table 2 represents the six-step thematic analysis used.

Table 2Six-Phase Thematic Analysis

Thematic phases	Process of each step
Phase 1: Reviewing data	Review data, gain insight, codes
Phase 2: Codes	Code data, organize, inductive method
Phase 3: Themes	Merging codes into themes and patterns and create
Phase 4: Reviewing themes	Relevant themes and data reflect research questions
Phase 5: Naming themes	Continue analysis, refining themes into a story; remove irrelevant information
Phase 6: Report	Report findings of thematic analysis

Note. Six phases of thematic analysis derived from Braun and Clarke (2012).

Phase 1: Reviewing the Data

After data collection, I familiarized myself with the data by reviewing the transcripts multiple times from the recorded audio, personal notes, and observational notes collected during the interview process. I also noted any nonverbal gestures such as body movements, facial gestures, and body gestures that took place with a specific word during the interview process. Familiarizing myself with the data was also completed by reading and understanding each question and answer as it related to soft skills, emotional intelligence, and job performance. After I transcribed the interview recording in WordPad, I was able to read and underline specific words of interest, along with words that were not relevant to the research questions and repeated patterns. I also marked the text, highlighting certain words such as *emotional intelligence*, *soft skills*, *important*, and

performance. These words were marked for use at a later phase, as they pertained to the research questions the most. Once I felt that I was very familiar with the data, I moved to phase 2.

Phase 2: Generating Codes

I used an inductive method (see Table 3), which allowed codes to emerge from the data collected (Terry et al., 2017). Using the inductive method allowed me to break the data down from the transcripts into smaller sections and organize the data by using colored labels. This process also helped me to remember any information that I might have forgotten or missed earlier in phase 1. The inductive method was used to help me see and better understand the codes, which ultimately allowed me to understand the participant's experience and thoughts. Any code that did not repeat or seemed irrelevant to the research questions was set aside. I repeated this process until there were no new codes and moved to phase 3.

Table 3Codes for Each Participant

Participants	Codes
Participant 1	Soft skills Emotional intelligence Training Roleplaying Success
Participant 2	Hard skills Soft skills Roleplaying Emotional intelligence Success
Participant 3	Soft skills Roleplaying Performance Emotional intelligence Communication
Participant 4	Roleplaying Soft skills Hard skills Emotional intelligence Communication

Phase 3: Themes

Once the collected data were coded, I moved from Notepad to a more suitable program, Microsoft Word, which allowed me to become more organized by using the highlight function and font colors. Microsoft Word also helped me identify and color code codes and themes. Microsoft Word also assisted me in arranging specific words by using Ctrl + F, which automatically highlighted specific words in different sections such as (EMO) as emotional intelligence and (SOF) as soft skills. As themes emerged from

groups of codes, I noticed patterns, and I noted them in detail in order for each participant. Then, I started to discard words, codes, themes, and other notes that were no longer considered vital to the research or the research questions. Disregarding irrelevant data made themes and relationships more evident (see Table 3).

Figure 1

Potential Themes for Each Participant

P1 1. Success in the organization 2. Evaluations 3. Communication 4. Personal Experience	P2 1. Personal Experience 2. Evaluations 3. Soft Skills/Emotional Intelligence 4. Training
P3 . Soft Skills/Emotional Intelligence 2. Personal Experience 3. Job Performance 4. Evaluations	P4 1. Success 2. Evaluation 3. Training 4. Emotional Inteligence

Table 4General Themes for Each Participant

Participants	General Themes
Participant 1	Soft skills made a difference
	Training/Education
	Soft skills increased performance
	Soft skills are connected to emotional intelligence
Participant 2	Soft skills increased performance
	Role-playing increased soft skills
	Trainers in emotional intelligence
	Training/Education
Participant 3	Soft skills correlate with emotional intelligence
-	Performance increased with role-playing
	Emotional intelligence was important
	Trainers for soft skills
Participant 4	Special training in soft skills increased performance
	Emotional intelligence increases soft skills
	Role-playing trainers to teach soft skills
	Role-playing trainers to teach soft skills

Table 5 *Final Themes*

Theme number	Theme description
Theme 1	Soft skills programs make a difference
Theme 2	Soft skills increase performance
Theme 3	Soft skills and emotional intelligence

Phase 4: Reviewing Themes

All the data collected up to this point were reviewed multiple times to ensure the accuracy of the codes and themes. I ensured that each theme was relevant to the research questions and made sense to me. This allowed me to feel more connected to the story of the participants. After reviewing the themes, I merged the themes into larger ones, which helped me to understand the experience of the participants and validate their stories as trustworthy (Braun & Clarke, 2012). During phase 4, I asked myself whether the themes described or demonstrated a representation of the data collected. Additionally, in this phase, I reviewed the data, compared the data to the codes and themes that emerged, and disregarded any codes and themes that were irrelevant.

Phase 5: Naming Themes

In phase 5, I reread all data collected and transcribed to ensure that I was not missing any details that might change or affect the outcome thus far in the analysis. More so, I wanted to ensure that I truly understood that each theme aligned with the research questions and the participant's experiences. Phase 5 is vital to ensuring that each theme is relevant to the gathered data and that each step from phases 1–4 is repeated, according to Terry et al. (2017).

Phase 6: Creating the Report

In phase six, creating the report was completed by repeating phases 1–5, ensuring that I was using "coherent, logical, nonrepetitive, and interesting accounts of the data" (Terry et al., p. 45). During phase six, I was able to weave together the story and experiences, which led to an accurate description of the participants' detailed reports,

patterns, and themes. By using narrative and descriptive analysis to tell the story of the participants, I was able to answer the "why" and interpret the story, which helped me answer the research questions. Phases 1–5 allowed me to ensure that I did not fall into one of the three main thematic analysis issues mentioned by Braun and Clarke (2006).

First, I ensured that my research data collected were accurate and adequately inductively described the story. Second, I ensured that the data collected were adequate by using four participants, and I ensured that each participant gave enough data through their experiences and by answering open-ended questions. I made sure that the interview questions were aligned with the research questions. Third, I ensured that the analysis was convincing and valid by member checking and that the themes were not nonsensical. Phase 6 is very similar to phase 5, according to Kiger and Varpio (2020), who noted that the final analysis of phase 6 is a "continuation" of analysis versus a stage or phase (p. 853). For this reason, the final analysis will be discussed in the results sections (Braun & Clarke, 2006, 2012).

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Credibility

Credibility, according to Nowell et al. (2017), is the fit between respondents and representation and is determined by checking preliminary findings with raw data. Using a triangulation method assured me that credibility was established through the use of interviews, personal notes, questionnaires, and member checking (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Using member checking allowed ample time for the participants to review and submit their final input for accuracy. Interviews were transcribed multiple times and

analyzed into codes and themes. Questionnaires were also coded and analyzed into codes and themes. Using multiple approaches to evaluate the data assured me that credibility and validity were accomplished.

Transferability

Transferability is the responsibility of the researcher to provide a thick description of the process, which reports not just a social activity, but also the interpretation of that action by those involved (Nowell et al., 2017). This was accomplished by providing a thick description of the background, methods, sample strategy, and results so that the reader can determine if the findings of this study correlate with their conclusion. By doing so, the participants can fully understand the analyzed data and better understand the phenomenon which in return increases transferability.

Dependability

To establish dependability, I utilized a traceable and in-depth explanation as to why I used specific methods in this research to the participants. By explaining the purpose of the study, data collection, and the research questions used, I was able to achieve dependability and relate the information to all audiences according to Nowell et al. (2017). Furthermore, explaining clearly how the research design is reflected in the research questions, discussing the consent form, and interpreting ensured dependability.

Confirmability

Confirmability was established by data saturation, reflexivity, and when I demonstrated clearly how interpretations and conclusions were made based on the data collected (Nowell et al., 2017). This was accomplished by giving each participant ample

time to review the transcripts and provide feedback for accuracy. Each participant was also allowed to review and change the answers that were given during the interview process. Data saturation was another method used to reach confirmability. Data saturation was accomplished by comparing the analyzed data until no new themes came apparent.

Study Results

The purpose of this qualitative case study is to understand how HR departments in IT organizations are training their employees on soft skills, and how they are evaluating their level of performance. Zoom interviews were conducted and lasted just over an hour per participant. During the interview phase of the research, I used semi-structured questions and followed a semi-structured guide (Appendix A) and utilized probing questions to gain a deeper insight into the story being told by the participants. The data collected from interviews, questionnaires, observation notes, and member checking emerged three themes concerning the central research questions (see Table 3). Central RQ1 - How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills? RQ2 - How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?

Theme 1: Soft Skills Programs Make a Difference

This theme was developed when all the participants were asked open-ended questions during the interview (Appendix A). RQ1 How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills? Question 2: Tell me about your experience with soft skills training programs and follow up question B: What is the success of training programs? Each participant explained through their experience how they were

trained in soft skills and how they relate their experiences through their training programs.

Participant 1

Participant 1 (P1) is currently employed in the HR department and teaches soft skills to existing employees. This participant began the interview process by describing her experience before and after she was taught soft skills, and how she relates her training and experiences to employees. She described how she assisted in developing training programs from her firsthand experiences:

Working in the human resources training and development arena, I can see a dramatic difference between employees who are trained in soft skills and those who are not. When I started training employees in soft skills 5 years ago, it was apparent that they did not learn communication, time management, or how to handle conflicts. Working in role-playing and training allows me the opportunity to make employees better in ways they never thought possible. I teach soft skills through active role-playing and training videos. The success of our programs so far has been great. There are always individuals who do not work out.

Participant 2

Participant 2 (P2) is a current employee in HR and teaches and designs training programs like soft skills to new employees. P2 began the interview by sharing her experiences with soft skills and how she designs and trains employees.

My experience was life-changing in a way that many people would not understand. I felt happy and excited to train employees in soft skills, which I have seen make employees successful. I teach soft skills through role-playing and one on one scenarios. From my own experience, I have seen employees after their training session increases their awareness and grow skills such as increased work performance, and communication, and a become better employees overall.

Before I was trained in soft skills, I thought I was doing an excellent job working in human resources. But after many years of practicing soft skills, my success has increased and so has my job performance. One area in particular that I noticed is my communication and conflict management. When I teach employees how to address conflict or communicate professionally, they flourish and become that professional we all know is there. Another thing is that when I train employees to use emotional intelligence to overcome positive and negative feedback, I can see a difference. I would say yes that our soft skills training programs are highly successful.

Participant 3

Participant 3 (P3) is a current employee who works in developing and monitoring soft skills programs in the HR department. P3 starts the interview with a personal understanding of soft skills and emotional intelligence.

So, I have six years in developing roleplaying programs and teaching soft skills. I train employees through interactive role-playing, computer programs such as scenarios based training, and communication examples. I believe hard skills like education/research are important however, I feel soft skills align with one on one experiences and emotional intelligence. I have seen how soft skills can increase

motivation, personal values, work ethics, and the ability to adapt to high-stress situations. Soft skills in my opinion are the way to ensure all employees are performing at their best. For this reason, I would say absolutely our soft skills programs are successful. I understand emotional intelligence and believe that you can not have one meaning of soft skills without emotional intelligence. How would you try to understand soft skills without emotional intelligence? In fact, during my training time with employees, we have an entire day on emotional intelligence, and how it is important to grow in the organization.

Participant 4

The fourth participant currently works in the HR department and assists in training videos and online platforms. This participant explained how her previous research in softs skills helped her to better understand how important it is for other companies to learn and teach soft skills.

Soft skills can be taught to any employee who is willing to learn, or at least I have seen this in success in our training programs. I teach soft skills through role-playing and group training sessions which include videos. Soft skills training in my experience makes a dramatic difference with employees in organizations who want to increase performance and possibly move quickly up the corporate ladder. In my year's teaching which is a lot, in my 15 years teaching I can personally say that it has made me very successful and increased my job performance. It has also taught me how to manage conflict, interact more socially, and how to speak with others, or should I say communicate.

Theme 2: Soft Skills Increase Performance

Theme two addresses the main RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills? Theme 2 emerged when questions were asked during the interview such as what soft skills do you teach employees? how do soft skills programs increase performance?

Participant 1

For our IT company, we teach a variety of soft skills. I like to teach social skills. Social skills help employees to overcome the fear of speaking, which can be an issue for our sales department. I also like to teach communication, which I feel is the most important. Lack of communication can create issues among the different departments. Lack of communication also creates an environment of hostility that does not exist. So, for this reason, I teach how to communicate in a language that is not threatening or heavy in tone.

After the participant finished explaining the soft skills that she teaches, she moves on and explains how she knows soft skills increase performance.

One way we see the soft skills increasing job performance is by observing the employee overtime. We can see the communication difference through emails, TEAMS, and written projects. I can also see how the employee interacts more professionally with others through handshakes, in-depth conversations, and most important an increase in sales. We also compare our observation notes from various times and situations. If our notes are impressive or better, we can conclude that our soft skills training is working.

Participant 2

I teach many soft skills but normally I will teach communication, social skills, empathy, and self-awareness. My favorite is self-awareness because it teaches individuals to think before they speak and review their actions before doing something. I also like to incorporate emotional intelligence with soft skills. What I mean is, that when employees are taught emotional intelligence, they tend to better understand soft skills and where to apply those skills. One way that I can see that soft skills are working is through observation and their evaluations every few months. Another way I can see soft skills working is by increased profits in the organization. Employees are meeting their deadlines and accomplishing more than before. I am sure that because of the soft skill training, employees have increased their performance.

Participant 3

I teach communication, problem-solving, leadership, and adaptability to all new and existing employees. I teach these soft skills to employees who do not have much experience or are recent graduates trying to learn the ropes in IT. I can see the difference before and after soft skill training in just a few days. I notice the difference when there are fewer problems in the teams. I also notice that communication is on another level meaning employees are using communication more. I would say that when employees learn adaptability and do not fear change, the organization seems to flow better and less drama. Soft skills improve

performance when employees learn something new and use that new skill to do better for themselves and the company.

Participant 4

I teach all soft skills from communication to social skills and everything in between. To be more specific, I teach skills that relate directly to IT and other skills this company may need. For example, I teach how to communicate and how to handle stress in the sales environment. I like to teach empathy and the values of the employees. Soft skills increase performance when they understand how to use soft skills. When I have an employee who lacks communication it not only affects the employee but the entire organization. When this employee is put into soft skills training and is taught good communication skills you can see the difference everywhere which is increasing performance. When I think about performance, I think of any way in which the employee has become better at something. So, to answer your question, I would say that soft skills increase performance by teaching them what they didn't learn in school and seeing the difference.

Theme 3: Soft Skills Must Include Emotional Intelligence

Theme 3 emerged and addresses the main RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills? and sub-question: Do you think emotional intelligence is important in learning soft skills?

Participant 1

In our organization we evaluate employees during their interviews, depending on the position the interview may be structured differently but the fundamentals are the same. We noted during the interview what soft skills the employee is lacking. For example, we may ask the employee to read an email or a passage and have them reply to the email or passage. Depending on the way the email or passage is written may demonstrate if the individual has soft skills or not. There are other ways such as Scenario. We could give the individual a question and see how they respond with self-awareness or with empathy. More like an assessment test. I know that emotional intelligence is the foundation to learn soft skills. If you teach someone a soft skill with emotional intelligence, the person may not understand how to manage the skills.

Participant 2

Evaluating employees can be done on many levels. For instance, we evaluate the candidate during the interview process. We do not judge the individual on their soft skills but would prefer if they had them. After doing this for so many years, we assume all candidates do not possess soft skills or know about emotional intelligence. I like to give the employee a soft skills assessment test in the beginning and again six months after the employee completes the soft skills training. I evaluate them based on their performance. If the employee makes a higher score on the assessment after training, then that means their performance increased. To what level depends on the level of the assessment. The assessment process is broken down into groups with different questions or scenarios. I like to use scenario-based training because it allows the participant to have a full range of freedom to answer the questions. I feel we can collect more data this way and

use it later to improve our assessment. Do I think emotional intelligence is important in learning soft skills? Yes, I think you can't have one without the other. Emotional intelligence is the way perceive and process information which is important if you want to learn soft skills.

Participant 3

I evaluate soft skills by performance measures. We do offer an assessment test, but I prefer to start training employees if they do not have any idea about soft skills. What I mean by performance measures is how the participant carries out role-playing activities with other trainers. I evaluate the employee as they move through the training and if there is a section that the employee did not do very well on, they will either re-do the section or take part in another style of role-playing until the employee understands it. I guess this is where emotional intelligence comes on. Constructive feedback!!

Participant 4

Employees are evaluated through observation and assessment testing. When employees go through the soft skill training, they are evaluated on how well they perform. I do assessments in many ways. For example, I will evaluate the individual before or during their interview. Then, I will reevaluate the employee during their goal meeting or on their performance review. Employees are monitored over some time and in this case, soft skills would be a part of the evaluation. If the individual goes through our soft skills training program, usually we can see an increase in job performance, and this is noted during their

performance review. During our performance review, if we see an area that needs to be approved, we can offer more training in a specific area. I would say yes that emotional intelligence is part of Soft Skills. As I just mentioned, the employee must learn how to handle negative feedback.

Summary

Chapter 4 included an in-depth review of the setting, study demographics, data collection, data analysis, evidence of trustworthiness, and the final results. The data was collected through in-depth interview questions that aimed to answer the following questions.

RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills?

RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?

The study's results gave an extensive view of the participants and their experiences of soft skills and emotional intelligence. Research findings suggest that soft skills increase employee performance and must align with emotional intelligence. The transcribed interview responses demonstrate how soft skills not only increased performance but align with emotional intelligence. The findings also demonstrated how IT organizations train employees in soft skills. Furthermore, the participants in this study also demonstrated how they evaluate the performance of employees and how they evaluate employees' soft skills. Chapter 5 will discuss the interpretations of the findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, and implications.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusion, and Recommendations

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to understand how personnel in HR departments in IT organizations are training employees on soft skills, and how they are evaluating their level of performance. As mentioned in previous chapters of this study, both hard skills and soft skills are needed throughout IT organizations, according to Szilárd et al. (2018). However, soft skills are specifically linked to communication, empathy, problem solving, and job performance. Although there is research on how HR personnel, are responsible for hiring, training, and ensuring that employees are meeting the organization's hard skills needs, little research exists as to how HR departments are hiring and training employees in soft skills (Hendon et al., 2017). The findings in this study may benefit IT organizations by increasing job performance, which may increase overall profits. The findings may also benefit employees who are looking to increase their skill set in performance and communication, may help employees seeking to learn new skills that are highly desirable in organizations, and may promote new opportunities.

Summary of the Findings

The results from this qualitative case study helped me understand how the HR department personnel train employees in soft skills and how employees are evaluated in soft skills. The study results demonstrated four main findings: (a) the importance of soft skills, (b) soft skills increase job performance, (c) soft skills and emotional intelligence, and (d) soft skills evaluation. These results emerged from the research questions:

RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills?

RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?

Finding 1: The Importance of Soft Skills

During the research, four participants were asked about their experiences with softs skills and training programs. Each participant told their story and shared their experiences as to why soft skills are important to each employee and the organization. One main difference that each participant encountered was an increase in self-awareness. The participants explained through their experience how an increase in self-awareness by teaching emotional intelligence increased how the employees perceived negative or structural feedback on performance. The participants also described the employee's attitudes as more positive as they understood the purpose of feedback. The participants also explained how it would be very difficult if not impossible to teach soft skills without teaching emotional intelligence. Research from Chapter 2 indicates that emotional intelligence is the foundation of teaching and training soft skills (Zhang et al., 2022).

Finding 2: Soft Skills Increase Job Performance

The literature review revealed that soft skills may increase job performance, which, in return, increases employees' value (Rosli et al., 2017). According to the four participants, they could see an increase in job performance after soft skills training. The participants were able to document employee performance through assessments and observations. Furthermore, participants noted that the best way to see an increase in job performance was through performance review before training and then after training over 6 months. The participants noted that even though some employees demonstrated soft

skills during interviews, they still went through soft skills training to sharpen their skills and help employees adjust to the IT culture. According to Sari and Amalia (2022), soft skills can be taught to individuals to increase qualities such as personality traits and habits, as well as to improve the conditions that can make a person's life better overall. The four participants could see improvement in employees, especially in communication and goals, with specific soft skill training. One participant, in particular, mentioned that depending on the soft skill training methods, employees had different outcomes.

Finding 3: Soft Skills and Emotional Intelligence

Emotional intelligence is considered the foundation of soft skills and is described as the ability to make decisions, understand decisions, and understand a person's feelings, emotions, and reasoning, among many other traits (Sari & Amalia, 2022). Finding 3 confirms that emotional intelligence is the foundation of learning and understanding soft skills. The participants stated that for soft skills training to be fully understood, the employees must first understand emotional intelligence. For this reason, emotional intelligence is part of the soft skills training program. Participants mentioned that when soft skills training first began, emotional intelligence was not included, and the employees were confused. The literature also confirms that for an individual to learn soft skills, emotional intelligence must be a part of the training program, or the individual will lack reasoning. The participants expressed that without emotional intelligence, the training programs would either be longer in terms of more training, or the individual might not comprehend soft skills.

Finding 4: Soft Skills Evaluation

Teaching a soft skill is important, but how to evaluate the employee's soft skills is vital to ensure that the training is effective (Grazia et al., 2021). The participants all shared very similar experiences with how they evaluated soft skills with different employees. One main factor was that employees were evaluated before and after training, which gave the best indicator that the soft skills training was effective. In return, when the training proved effective through scenario-based assessments, employees' performance increased. The participants explained that they measured soft skills in four ways: scenario assessment, peer-review assessment, observation, and soft skills assessment test. Each test measures specific soft skills such as decision making, communication, self-awareness, and leadership.

Limitations

Most research has limitations, according to Kohler et al. (2022). There were three limitations presented in this study. One limitation was the sample size used in this study. Even though a case study uses three to five participants, using a larger sample size may reveal more experiences and stories of participants (Arrogante et al., 2022). The second limitation was that this research used one IT organization that trained its employees in soft skills. Investigating other organizations' soft skills training programs might shed light on other training programs and soft skill evaluations. In addition, this study gathered data from one area of HR versus the entire department, which may have limited the data being collected. This was done primarily to focus on the training section of HR.

Recommendations

My intention in conducting this study was to better understand how IT organizations teach and evaluate employees in soft skills. This study increases the understanding of how soft skills and emotional intelligence can increase job performance and brings new recommendations for future research. The findings of this research revealed that soft skills increase performance and should be studied further to better understand soft skills and performance. One recommendation according to the participants is to research different soft skills as they pertain to the job description. Extending research to better understand the different types of soft skills may be beneficial for other positions in IT organizations and soft skills training programs (Betti et al., 2022).

Another recommendation is to increase the sample size. This research used a sample size of three to five participants, in keeping with recommendations by Arrogante (2022). However, increasing the sample size could reveal new information on how soft skills and emotional intelligence increase job performance. This research was conducted as a case study, however, other methodologies could be used, which could increase the sample size.

Finally, despite the benefits of soft skills, further research should be conducted to understand the negative effects of increased performance with soft skills. Even though increased performance means better outcomes, at some point this may lead to burnout.

Semaan et al. (2021) explained that persistent performance may lead to burnout among

employees. However, no participant in this study mentioned burnout during performance appraisals or increased performance.

Implications

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore and increase the knowledge of how soft skills can increase job performance, and how soft skills are evaluated in IT organizations. Soft skills are important to train and improve employees' way of thinking (Cimatti, 2016). This study confirms that soft skills increase performance but can also change the way an employee perceives feedback through emotional intelligence. Goleman's emotional intelligence model indicates how emotional intelligence is the foundation of soft skills and can improve job performance. Goleman (1995) also contended that if job performance increases, other positive aspects will emerge, creating values, motivation, and self-awareness.

First, the findings could educate not only IT companies, but also other companies on how soft skills can increase job performance. The findings may also teach other HR personnel how to teach soft skills to employees. Soft skills training programs could be offered to employees to increase their skill sets and job attributes to allow them the opportunity to become more successful (Kamaeva et al., 2021).

Second, the research findings could be used to encourage college students and teachers to implement specific soft skills in leadership training programs. This could increase employment chances if students are better trained in soft skills, according to Tan et al. (2021). This research demonstrated many ways in which soft skills can be taught, and it presented how soft skills can change the lives of employees through better

performance. I believe that organizations can adopt soft skills training programs and make a meaningful impact.

Third, the findings suggest that emotional intelligence should be used as a foundation for soft skills (Sari & Amalia, 2022). The literature and study findings may encourage organizations to use emotional intelligence in their programs, which, in return, may increase performance. Teaching emotional intelligence is important when teaching specific soft skills such as communication, empathy, motivation, and goal setting.

According to Tan et al. (2021), these soft skills are highly desired in organizations but may not be effective among employees if they do not understand why soft skills are needed in the first place.

Conclusion

Soft skills increase job performance. Soft skills not only increase job performance, but also have changed the lives of employees by allowing them the opportunity to gain powerful skills to make them successful. In this qualitative case study, two main research questions were developed (RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills? RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?), and multiple follow-up questions were used to better understand soft skills and training programs. These research questions used in the interview process allowed me to gain a deeper understanding through the experiences of the participants, who shared their stories of how soft skills had made a difference. Hearing these stories and understanding these experiences may change the ways that organizations teach soft skills to employees.

Through this research, I aimed to better understand how soft skills are taught and evaluated in IT organizations. The study findings have demonstrated that if training programs are conducted properly and with emotional intelligence, employees' performance will increase. This study also identified ways to evaluate soft skills, which may be the key to better understanding different soft skills and their outcome. Tan et al. (2021) mentioned that soft skills are extremely important in organizational growth and described how to measure soft skills. In return, organizational growth allows for more employment opportunities that support communities.

References

- Abma, T. A., & Stake, R. E. (2014). Science of the particular: An advocacy of naturalistic case study in health research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24(8), 1150–1161. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314543196
- Afkinich, J. L., & Blachman-Demner, D. R. (2020). Providing incentives to youth participants in research: A literature review. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 15(3), 202–215. https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264619892707
- Andreas, S. (2018). Effects of the decline in social capital on college graduates' soft skills. *Industry and Higher Education*, 32(1), 47–56.
- Arrogante, O. (2022). Sampling techniques and sample size calculation: How and how many participants should I select for my research? *Enfermería Intensiva (English Ed.)*, 33(1), 44–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enfie.2021.03.004
- Backer-Grondahl, A., Naerde, A., & Idsoe, T. (2019). Hot and cool self-regulation, academic competence, and maladjustment: Mediating and differential relations.

 Child Development, 90(6), 2171–2188. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13104
- Baclar, J. (2014). Soft skills and their wage returns: Overview of the empirical literature.

 *Review of Economic Perspectives, 14(1), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.2478/revecp-2014-0001
- Battaglio, P. (2020). The future of public human resource management. *Public Personnel Management*, 49(4), 499–502. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026020948188

- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 13(4), 544–559.
- Betti, A., Biderbost, P., & García Domonte, A. (2022). Can active learning techniques simultaneously develop students' hard and soft skills? Evidence from an international relations class. *PLoS ONE*, *17*(4), 1–22.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0265408
- Branscum, P., Haider, T., Brown, D., & Sharma, M. (2016). Using emotional intelligence and social support to predict the job performance of health educators. *American Journal of Health Education*, 47(5), 309–314.
- Braun, V., Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds.), APA handbook of research methods in psychology, Vol. 2: Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological (pp. 57–71). American Psychological Association.
- Chamorro-Premuzic, T. (2014, October 30). More data won't turn employees into high-performance machines. *Harvard Business Review*. https://hbr.org/2014/10/more-data-wont-turn-employees-into-high-performing-machines
- Charoensap-Kelly, P., Broussard, L., Lindsly, M., & Troy, M. (2016). Evaluation of a soft skills training program. *Business and Professional Communication Quarterly*, 79(2), 154–179.

- Cimatti, B. (2016). Definition, development, assessment of soft skills, and their role in the quality of organizations and enterprises. *International Journal for Quality Research*, 10(1), 97–120. https://doi.org/10.18421/IJQR10.01-05
- Connolly, A. J., & Reinicke, B. (2017). How to teach emotional intelligence skills in IT project management. *Information Systems Education Journal*, 15(4), 4–16.
- Cortada, J. W. (2019). Rethinking why and how organizations acquire information technologies, Part 2. *IEEE Annals of the History of Computing*, 41(4), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1109/MAHC.2019.2929320
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). CA: Sage Publications.
- Dean, S. A., & East, J. I. (2019). Soft skills needed for the 21st-century workforce.

 International Journal of Applied Management and Technology, 18(1), 17–32.

 https://doi.org/10.5590/ijamt.2019.10.1.02
- Dewey, J. (2020). Daniel Goleman. In Salem Press biographical encyclopedia.
- Deshpande, S., & Munshi, M. M. (2020). The impact of soft skills training on the behavior and work performance of employees in service organizations. *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, 14(1), 7–25.
- Dries, N. (2013). The psychology of talent management: A review and research agenda.

 Human Resource Management Review, 23(4), 272–285.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2013.05.001

- Dubey, R., & Gunasekaran, A. (2015). Shortage of sustainable supply chain talent: *an industrial training framework. Industrial & Commercial Training*, 47(2), 86–94. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-08-2014-0052
- Durdella, Nathan. (2019). Qualitative dissertation methodology: A guide for research design and methods. *SAGE Publications*, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781506345147
- Eilo, W., Yat, Y., & Natalie, I.L. (2016). The puzzle of Macao's talent development.

 Asian Education and Development Studies, (4), 423-444.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/AEDS-11-2015-0060
- Faik, I., Barrett, M., & Oborn, E. (2020). How information technology matters in societal change: *An affordance-based institutional logic perspective. MIS*Quarterly, 44(3), 1359–1390. https://doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2020/14193
- Feize, L. (2020). An exploration of social work educators' personal experiences of self-awareness. *Social Work Education*, 39(7), 907–921. https://doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2020.1726315
- Goleman, Daniel. (1987). *Vital Lies, Simple truth*. New York, New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Goleman, Daniel. (1995). *Emotional Intelligence*. New York, New York: Bantam Books.
- Grant Samkin, & Monique Keevy. (2019). Using a stakeholder-developed case study to develop soft skills. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 27(6), 862–882. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-01-2018-0260

- Grazia, C., Nicola, S., Assunta, G., Rosita, L., Silvio, S., Gianpaolo, G., & Silvia T.

 (2021). Evaluation of soft skills among italian healthcare rehabilitators: A CrossSectional Study. *Journal of Public Health Research*.

 https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2021.2002
- Gubrium, J. F. & Holstein, J. A. (2001). Analytic strategies. In Gubrium. *Handbook of interview research* (pp. 671-674). SAGE Publications.
 https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412973588
- Hallam, R. (2015). The therapy relationship: a special kind of friendship. Karnac.
- Hendarman, A. F., & Cantner, U. (2018). Soft skills, hard skills, and individual innovativeness. *Eurasian Business Review*, 8(2), 139–169. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40821-017-0076-6
- Hendon, M., Powell, L., & Wimmer, H. (2017). Emotional intelligence and communication levels in information technology professionals. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 71, 165–171. https://doi.org/10.14198/jhse.2021.163.14
- Henkel, W. J., & Endres, A. C. (2019). A structural equation model of leader-member exchange, employee–supervisor relationship, performance appraisal, and career development. ScholarWorks.
- Horstmeyer, A. (2020). The role of curiosity in workplace automation. *Development & Learning in Organizations*, 34(6), 29-46.
- Howson, A. (2019). Qualitative research methods (Sociology). Salem Press Encyclopedia.

- Hwang, M. I. (2018). Relationship between teamwork and Team performance:

 Experiences from an ERPsim Competition. *Journal of Information Systems*Education, 29(3), 157–168.
- Ibrahim, R., Boerhannoeddin, A., & Kazeem Kayode, B. (2017). Organizational culture and development: Testing the structural path of factors affecting employees' work performance in an organization. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 22(2), 104–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apmrv.2016.10.002
- Idrus, H., & Abdullah, M. R. (2018). Implementation of PBL to enhance the soft skills of engineering students. SHS Web of Conferences, 53, 15-30. https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20185303008
- Islami, X., Mulolli, E., & Mustafa, N. (2018). Using management by objectives as a performance appraisal tool for employee satisfaction. *Future Business Journal*, *4*(1), 94–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fbj.2018.01.001
- Jardim, J., Pereira, A., Vagos, P., Direito, I., & Galinha, S. (2022). The soft skills inventory: Developmental procedures and psychometric analysis. *Psychological Reports*, 125(1), 620–648. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033294120979933
- Kamaeva, R., Zemsh, M., Gilmanshina, S., & Galich, T. (2021). The effect of the leadership development model on high school students' leadership as a soft skill. Croatian Journal Educational / Hrvatski Casopis Za Odgoj I Obrazovanje, 23(3), 877–902. https://doi.org/10.15516/cje.v23i3.4151

- Karim, A. S., Zaki, A. R., & Mubeen, H. (2019). Managing workforce diversity in multicultural organizations: Some observations. *Journal of European Studies* 35(1), 79–91.
- Kiger, M. E., & Varpio, L. (2020). Thematic analysis of qualitative data: AMEE Guide No. 131. *Medical Teacher*, 42(8), 846–854.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2020.1755030
- Kirkpatrick, D. L. (1959). Techniques for evaluating training programs. *Journal of the American Society of Training Directors*, 13, 3–9.
- Kohler, T., Smith, A., & Bhakoo, V. (2022). Templates in qualitative research methods: origins, limitations, and new directions. *Organizational Research Methods*, 25(2), 183–210. https://doi.org/10.1177/10944281211060710
- Lawler, E. E., III, & Boudreau, J. W. (2018). Human resource excellence: an assessment of strategies and trends. Stanford University Press.
- Lazarus, A. (2013). Soften up: The importance of soft skills for job success. *Physician Executive*, *39*, 40–45.
- Luke, G., Emily A., L., Glenn I., C., Susan, K., Barbara E., B., & Holly Fernandez, L. (2018). A framework for ethical payment to research participants. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *378*(8), 766–771.

 https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsb1710591
- Lyons, P., & Bandura, R. P. (2020). Skills needs, integrative pedagogy, and case-based instruction. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 32(7), 473-490.

- Majid, S., Eapen, C. M., Ei Mon Aung, & Oo, K. T. (2019). The importance of soft skills for employability and career development: Student's and employers' perspectives. *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, *13*(4), 7–39.
- Marcel, M. Robles. (2012). Executive perceptions of the top 10 soft skills needed in today's workplace. *Business communication quarterly* 75(4) 453-465.
- Merriam, B. Sharon & Tisdell J. Tisdell. (2016). Qualitative Research: *A Guide to Design* and *Implementation*: Vol. Fourth edition. Jossey-Bass.
- Morgan, S. J., Pullon, S. R. H., Macdonald, L. M., McKinlay, E. M., & Gray, B. V. (2017). Case study observational research: A framework for conducting case study research where observation data are the focus. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27(7), 1060–1068. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732316649160
- Nowell, L.S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic analysis:

 Striving to meet the trustworthiness criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406917733847
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and policy in mental health*, 42(5), 533–544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Patacsil, F., & Lourrine, S. (2017). Exploring the importance of soft and hard skills as perceived by IT internship students and industry: A gap analysis. *Journal of Technology and Science Education*, (3), 347-360.

 https://doi.org/10.3926/jotse.271

- Rao, M. S. (2018). Soft skills: toward a sanctimonious discipline. *On the Horizon*, 26(3), 215-225.
- Ratka, A. (2018). Empathy and the development of affective skills. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 82(10), 1140–1143. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe7192
- Riger, S., & Sigurvinsdottir, R. (2016). Thematic analysis. In L. A. Jason & D. S.

 Glenwick (Eds.), Handbook of methodological approaches to community-based research: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. (pp. 33–41). Oxford University Press.
- Roberts, R. E. (2020). Qualitative interview questions: Guidance for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 25(9), 3185-3203. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2020.4640
- Rosli, L., Ali, B., & Kazeem, K. (2017). The effect of soft skills and training methodology on employee performance. *European journal of training and development*, 41(4), 388-406. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-08-2016-0066
- Salovey, P., Mayer, J. D., Caruso, D., & Lopes, P. N. (2003). Measuring emotional intelligence as a set of abilities with the Mayer-Salovey-Caruso Emotional Intelligence Test. *In Positive psychological assessment*: A handbook of models and measures. (pp. 251–265). American Psychological Association. https://doi.org/10.1037/10612-016
- Sari, F. A., & Amalia, L. (2022). Effectiveness of training methodology on innovative work behavior and government employee performance during the covid-19

- pandemic: The Role of Soft Skill and Emotional Intelligence. *Jurnal Manajemen Teori Dan Terapan*, 15(1), 146–160. https://doi.org/10.20473/jmtt.v15i1.31486
- Semaan, M. Sleiman., Bassil, J. Pierre., Abdallah, & Salameh, P. (2021). Effect of soft skills and emotional intelligence of health-care professionals on burnout: a Lebanese cross-sectional study / Effekte von Soft Skills und emotionaler Intelligenz auf Burnout von Fachkräften im Gesundheitswesen: eine Querschnittsstudie aus dem Libanon. *International Journal of Health Professions*, 8(1), 112–124. https://doi.org/10.2478/ijhp-2021-0011
- Schirf, E., & Serapiglia, A. (2017). Identifying the real technology skills gap: A qualitative look across disciplines. *Information Systems Education Journal*, 15(6), 72–82.
- Schwandt (1997). *Qualitative inquiry: A dictionary of terms*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAEG Publications.
- Showry, M., & Manasa, K. V. L. (2016). Attrition among the new hires: A soft skill perspective. *IUP Journal of soft skills*, 10(4), 46-60.
- Siddiky, M. R. (2020). Does soft skill development vary among the students? A gender perspective. *Turkish Journal of Education*, 9(3), 205–221. https://doi.org/10.19128/turje.658198
- Society for Human Resource Management. (2016). The new talent landscape: *Recruiting difficulties and skills shortages*. <a href="https://www.shrm.org/hr-today/trends-and-forecasting/research-and-

- surveys/Documents/SHRM%20New%20Talent%20Landscape%20Recruiting%2
 0Difficulty%20Skills.pdf
- Society for Human Resource Management. (2019). The global skills shortage: *Bridging* the talent gap with education, training, and sourcing. https://www.shrm.org/hrtoday/trends-and-forecasting/research-and-surveys/Documents/SHRM%20Skills%20Gap%202019.pdf
- Stake, E., Robert. (2000). *Handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Stewart, C., Marciniec, S., Lawrence, D., & Joyner-McGraw, L. (2020). Incubator

 Approach to solving the soft skills gap. *American journal of management*, 20(2), 78–89.
- Sriruecha, C., & Buajan, S. (2017). Leadership soft skills of the director affect the performance of the subordinate at sub-district health-promoting hospitals. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 237, 1341–1346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2017.02.220
- Surmiak, Adrianna (2018). Confidentiality in qualitative research involving vulnerable participants: Researchers' Perspectives. Forum *Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum*: Qualitative Social Research, 19(3), Art. 12, https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-19.3.3099
- Szekely, S., Benedek, A., & Ionel-Cioca, L. (2017). Soft skills development needs and methods in micro-companies of the ICT sector. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 23(8), 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2018.03.012

- Tan, C. Y., Abdullah, A. G. K., & Ali, A. J. (2021). Soft skill integration for inspiring critical employability skills in private higher education. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research* (EJER), 93, 23–39.
- Taylor, S. J., Bogdan, R., & DeVault, M. L. (2016). Introduction to qualitative research methods: *a guidebook and resource* (Fourth edition.). Wiley.
- Terry, G., Hayfield, N., Clarke, V. & Braun, V. (2017). Thematic analysis. In *The SAGE Handbook of qualitative research in psychology* (pp. 17-36). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/97815264
- Tolley, E. E., Ulin, P. R., Mack, N., Robinson, E. T., & Succop, S. M. (2016). *Qualitative methods in public health: A field guide for applied research*. ProQuest Ebook Central.
- Tripathy, M. (2018). Recognizing & handling the underlying causes of stress at the workplace: An approach through soft skills. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 5(7), 619–632.
- Tseng, H., Yi, X., & Yeh, H.-T. (2019). Learning-related soft skills among online business students in higher education: Grade level and managerial role differences in self-regulation, motivation, and social skill. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 95, 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.11.035
- Van, T. Dang, & Ying-Chyi Chou. (2019). Extrinsic motivation, workplace learning, employer trust, self-efficacy, and cross-cultural adjustment: An empirical study of Vietnamese laborers in Taiwan. *Personnel Review*, 49(6), 1232–1253. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-10-2018-0427

- Weber, M. R., Lee, J., & Crawford, A. (2020). A suggested best practice for enhancing the performance of soft skills with entry-level hospitality managers. *Anatolia: An International Journal of Tourism & Hospitality Research*, 31(1), 76-101.
- West Monroe Partners, (2018) Closing the technology leadership gap.

 https://www.westmonroepartners.com/perspectives/signature-research/it-soft-skills
- Wilkin, C. L., Couchman, P. K., Sohal, A., & Zutshi, A. (2016). Exploring differences between smaller and large organizations' corporate governance of information technology. *International Journal of Accounting Information Systems*, 22, 6–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accinf.2016.07.002
- William N. Butos. (2010). The unexpected fertility of Hayek's cognitive theory: An introduction to The social science of Hayek's "The sensory order." Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1529-2134(2010)0000013003
- Woodside, A. G. (2010). Case study research. [electronic resource]: *theory, methods, practice* (1st ed.). Emerald Group Pub. Ltd.
- Yin, R. K. (2003). *Case study research: Design and methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zhang, L., Roslan, S., Zaremohzzabieh, Z., Jiang, Y., Wu, S., & Chen, Y. (2022).

 Perceived stress, social support, emotional intelligence, and post-stress growth among Chinese left-behind children: A Moderated Mediation

Model. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public

Health, 19(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031851

Appendix A: Interview Guide

Thank you for volunteering and providing information about your experience with soft skills and employee performance. The purpose of this qualitative case study is to understand how HR departments in IT organizations are training their employees on soft skills and how they are evaluating their level of performance. The findings of this research may be used by IT organizations in designing and implementing a soft skills program that can increase employees' performance.

Our interview should only last about one hour and will include a group of questions. With your permission, I will audio and video record the interview, so I can more accurately document your experiences. Please, answer all questions honestly, and at any time during the interview, if you do not wish to continue or are not comfortable answering questions, please let me know.

After the interview is completed, I will transcribe our conversations by writing out every word on paper to ensure the accuracy of the interview questions. You may request an emailed copy of the transcription and a follow-up phone call for question clarity or to add additional information.

RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills?

- 1. How long have you been employed with the organization?
- 2. Tell me about your experience with soft skills training programs?
- 3. Does your organization teach soft skills to employees?
- 4. How do you teach soft skills to employees?
 - A. Programs, roleplaying, or trainers?

- B. What is the success of the training program?
- 5. What soft skills do you teach to employees?
 - A. Which soft skills increase performance?
 - B. How do soft skills increase performance?
- 6. Why does your organization teach soft skills?

RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?

- 1. How important are soft skills for professional growth in an IT organization?
- 2. Which soft skills better prepare employees for IT organizations?
- 3. Which training program works the best?
- 4. How do you evaluate employees in soft skills?
 - A. Test, roleplaying, or previous experience?
- 5. In your experience, do training programs prepare employees for success in an IT organization?

Are there any questions you would like to ask me? Or is there any additional information you would like to add at this time? I would like to thank you again for participating in this research. And as mentioned above I will send you a copy of the transcription.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

RQ1: How do HR personnel in an IT organization train employees in soft skills?

- 1. How long have you been employed with the organization?
- 2. Tell me about your experience with soft skills training programs?
- 3. Does your organization teach soft skills to employees?
- 4. Why does your organization teach soft skills?
- 5. How do you teach soft skills to employees?
 - A. Programs, roleplaying, or trainers?
 - B. What is the success of the training program?
- 6. What soft skills do you teach to employees?
 - A. Which soft skills increase performance?
 - B. How do soft skills increase performance?
- RQ2: How do HR personnel in an IT organization evaluate their employees' soft skills?
- 1. Do you think soft skills are important for professional growth in an IT organization?
- 2. How important are soft skills for professional growth in an IT organization?
- 3. Which soft skills better prepare employees for IT organizations? How so?
- 4. Which training program do you find works the best and why?
- 5. How do you evaluate employees in soft skills?

Appendix C: Member Checking Protocol

- 1. Interview participants
- 2. Transcribe the video and audio recording
- 3. Analyze the transcripts using a 6-step Thematic Analysis
- 4. Have participant approve the transcription
- 5. Note any additional data from the participant